

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.

# In Vitro Biofabrication of Tissues and Organs



#### Koichi Nakayama

Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Saga University, Japan

#### CONTENTS

Introduction	1
1.1 Problems with scaffold-based tissue engineering	3
1.1.1 Immune reactions	
1.1.2 Degradation of scaffolds in vivo	3
1.1.3 Risk of infection	
1.1.3.1 Potential risk of disease transmission by scaffolds	4
1.1.3.2 Biofilms	4
1.2 "Scaffold-free" tissue engineering	5
1.2.1 Classification of present scaffold-free systems	6
1.2.1.1 Cell sheets	6
1.2.2 In vitro self-produced ECM-rich scaffold-free constructs	.10
1.2.3 The rotating wall vessel bioreactor system	.11
1.3 Aggregation/spheroid-based approaches	11
1.3.1 Preparation of multicellular spheroids	.12
1.3.2 Molding MCSs	.12
1.3.3 Bio-printing	
1.3.4 Alternative approach for MCS assembly technique for biofabrication	.13
Conclusion	14
References	16

# INTRODUCTION

After the sensational images of the mouse growing a human ear were broadcast around the world in the late 1990s, the in vitro fabrication of tissues and the regeneration of internal organs were no longer regarded as science fiction but as possible remedies for the millions suffering from chronic degenerative diseases. Although some mistook it as a genetically engineered mouse expressing a human ear [1], these striking images nonetheless highlighted the medical promise of "tissue engineering" and ignited widespread interest from researchers in many fields, including cell and molecular biology, biomedical engineering, transplant medicine, and organic chemistry.

While there have already been successful clinical reports documenting the treatment of severe burn patients with culture-expanded skin cell sheets since the introduction of this tissue engineering technology in 1981 [2], fabrication of three-dimensional (3D) tissue constructs in vitro remains a challenge.

In the above-mentioned study, Cao et al. prepared a biodegradable polymer scaffold in the shape of a human ear and seeded its surface with bovine chondrocytes. This "tissue engineered ear" was then implanted under the skin of a nude mouse. As nutrients were provided by the in vivo environment, the implanted chondrocytes gradually started producing extracellular matrix (ECM) components such as collagen and glycoproteins. While a cell-free ear-shaped polymer could not have maintained its original shape in vivo due to the hydrolytic degradation of the polymer, the chondrocytes seeded onto the polymer maintained the original scaffold shape for 12 weeks after implantation. Indeed, the geometry was similar to and as complex as the original human ear.

After the study of the mouse with the human ear, many researchers attempted to create tissues or organs in vitro by constructing scaffolds composed of various biocompatible materials, such as animal-derived collagen [3], synthetic polymers [4], artificially synthesized bone substitutes (calcium-phosphate cement) [5], and autologous fibrin glue [6]. These scaffolds were seeded with a large array of somatic cells or stem cells to reconstruct target tissues such as skin [7], bladder [8], articular cartilage [9], liver [10], bone [11], vascular vessels [12], and even a finger [13].

The combination of a scaffold with cells and/or growth factors became the gold standard of tissue engineering [14]. Successful application of scaffold-based tissue engineering depends on three steps: (1) finding a source of precursor or stem cells from the patient, usually through biopsy or isolated from accessible stem cell-rich tissues, (2) seeding these cells in vitro onto scaffold material of the desired shape (with or without growth factors) that promotes cell proliferation, and (3) surgically implanting the scaffold into the target (injured) tissue of the patient.

This tissue engineering method overcomes a number of problems associated with allogeneic organ transplantation: the perpetual shortage of donors, the possibility of rejection, ethical issues such as organ trafficking [15], and the need for prolonged immunosuppression, which may lead to opportunistic infections and increased risk of cancer [16].

Many researchers tried to fabricate organs by combining cells, proteins/genes, and scaffolds. The various biomaterials used to fabricate scaffolds are classified into three types: (1) porous materials composed of biodegradable polymers, such as polylactic acid, polyglycolic acid, hyaluronic acid, and various co-polymers; (2) hydroxyapatite or calcium phosphate—based materials; and (3) soft materials like collagens, fibrin, and various hydrogels and their combinations.

In addition to providing a 3D structure for transplanted cells, scaffolds also dramatically enhance cell viability (e.g., a few exogenous cells were detected after the transplantation of single isolated cells into infarcted myocardium [17,18]). Anchorage-dependent cells cannot survive for long when detached from the surrounding ECM or culture surface. When there is loss of normal cell–cell and cell–ECM interactions, unanchored cells may undergo a specific form of programmed cell death called "anoikis" [19,20]. Thus, seeding anchorage-dependent cells onto scaffolds allows for efficient transplantation, especially if scaffolds are pretreated with growth factors. Indeed, some scaffold-based tissue engineered systems, such as bladder [21], articular cartilage [22], epidermis [23], and peripheral pulmonary arteries [24], have already been translated into the clinical stage.

# 1.1 Problems with scaffold-based tissue engineering

The ideal biodegradable scaffold polymer should be (1) nontoxic; (2) capable of maintaining mechanical integrity to allow tissue growth, differentiation, and integration; (3) capable of controlled degradation; and (4) nonimmunogenic; also, it should not cause infection or a prion-like disease. Although there are many clinical reports on the successful use of various biomaterials, there is still no "ideal" biomaterial for scaffold construction. Furthermore, concerns such as immunogenicity, long-term safety of scaffold degradation products, and the risk of infection or transmission of disease, either directly or concomitant with biofilm formation, remain to be resolved.

#### 1.1.1 Immune reactions

A serious concern is that scaffolds may induce undesirable immune reactions [25], including inflammation, acute allergic responses, or late-phase responses. Scaffolds might even stimulate an autoimmune response, such as that produced by type II collagen in mice [26-28] used as models for rheumatoid arthritis. Immune responses may also be triggered by scaffold degradation byproducts. Metallosis is a specific form of inflammation induced by tiny metal particles that are shed from the metallic components of medical implants, such as debris from artificial joint prostheses [29]. Accumulation of scaffold degradation byproducts may elicit chronic diseases associated with inflammatory responses.

# 1.1.2 Degradation of scaffolds in vivo

Classic biodegradable polymers are defined as materials that are gradually digested by environmental bacteria through a process that is distinct from physiological degradation processes like digestion. Biodegradation can lead to toxicity in two ways: either a degradation product is directly toxic or it is metabolized to a toxic product (i.e., by liver enzymes). "Biodegradable" is distinct from "biocompatible." In most industrialized countries, only certified biomaterials that have passed multiple tests for severe toxicity and safety are permitted for use as medical implants.

Most synthesized biodegradable polymers are broken down by hydrolysis, resulting in the accumulation of acids that may alter the pH of the microenvironment or exert more direct toxicity. Some scaffolds are destroyed by macrophages, inducing an inflammatory reaction.

While bone substitute scaffolds may be replaced gradually by true bone through the activity of osteoclasts and osteoblasts, degradation of most other biomaterial scaffolds will leave a potential space that can impede repair. Biodegradable biomaterials are used extensively for cartilage repair, since articular cartilage (hyaline cartilage) has a low regenerative capacity and is usually replaced by weaker, rougher fibrous cartilage after injury [30]. When the scaffold is degraded and disappears, the space that once occupied it may no longer be filled with chondrocytes due to the cells' low proliferative capacity. These spaces might eventually form tiny cracks that trigger further deterioration of the smooth cartilage surface.

#### 1.1.3 Risk of infection

There are two potential sources of infection from implanted scaffolds: pathogens transmitted directly from the scaffold or cells and infections emerging from the bacterial biofilm formed around the scaffolds after implantation.

#### 1.1.3.1 Potential risk of disease transmission by scaffolds

Some scaffolds, such as collagen gels and amniotic membranes, are animalderived. Recent outbreaks of severe infectious diseases like bovine spongiform encephalopathy and severe acute respiratory syndrome highlight the fact that animals harbor pathogens that may be lethal or cause severe infections in humans. Moreover, it is safe to assume that there are many undiscovered animal pathogens with the potential to cause human disease or death. Preclinical studies may minimize this risk, but there is no guarantee that these materials do not harbor unknown human pathogens.

#### 1.1.3.2 Biofilms

Another source of infection from implanted scaffolds is the biofilm that forms on the scaffold surface [31]. Medical devices and implants, such as catheters and orthopedic or dental implants, are now ubiquitous in clinical practice. However, as the number of devices and implants continues to increase, the frequency of device-related infections will also increase [32,33]. Infections that are mostly caused by staphylococci, such as methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, usually do not respond to antibiotic therapy, necessitating removal of the implanted device.

In vivo microbial contamination of these devices differs from infection of natural tissues. Medical devices lack an immune system or bloodstream. Thus, once microorganisms invade through skin scratches, wounds, airways, or medical interventions and attach to the surface of the implanted material, they begin to form a bacterial biofilm [34]. The biofilm is composed of glycoproteins and polysaccharides secreted by microorganisms. Unlike circulating bacteria, biofilm-protected microorganisms are resistant to physical removal, host immunity, and antibiotics. Furthermore, since most antibiotics are unable to completely diffuse inside the biofilm, long-term antibiotic treatment may increase the risk of antibiotic resistance. In the United States, for example, catheter-related infections are a major cause of nosocomial morbidity and mortality. More than 300,000 U.S. patients are infected annually during presurgical or surgical procedures [35]. Moreover, as biofilms are slow to develop, infections due to biofilms may emerge several years after implantation. In artificial joint replacement surgery [36], this type of infection is a serious complication that can usually be cured only by removing the implant [32,37]. Infection by microorganisms is also widespread among contact lens users. One common cause of vision loss is contact lens-related microbial keratitis [38,39], and the risk of microbial keratitis increases during extended wear. This is why clinicians recommend frequent removal or replacement of contact lenses [38]. Furthermore, infection is the most common reason for breast implant removal [40,41]. These biofilm-related infections prolong hospitalization, increase medical costs, and sometimes result in mortality.

It is evident from the preceding discussion that scaffolds have several potential disadvantages. However, because there have been no clinical case reports documenting scaffold-related infection in regenerative medicine, many researchers have paid little attention to the possibility of infection from pathogens in the implant or biofilm.

Although most biomaterials used as scaffolds are biodegradable, degradation is usually very slow and may take several years. When infection occurs at the scaffold site, curing the infection may require surgical removal of the scaffold, disrupting tissue repair or causing further damage.

Various attempts have been made to develop infection-resistant biomaterials, such as silver ion—coated materials, ceramics that slowly release antibiotics [42], and antibacterial adhesion polymers [43], but it may take years before these materials are used in regenerative medicine, especially because these antibacterial factors may also harm the implanted cells. Thus, while scaffolds may hold great clinical potential, there remain significant safety concerns.

# 1.2 "Scaffold-free" tissue engineering

A precise definition of "scaffold-free" is still controversial [44]. Some investigators would insist that some of the techniques described below should not be called "scaffold-free" because the implanted construct may include residual biomaterials from the fabrication process. For the purpose of this section, a "scaffold-free" system is a "cell-only" construct that may or may not use other biomaterials during fabrication. Even if it does contain other biomaterials, these are not implanted along with the cells.

From a clinical perspective, the most important property of a scaffold is its behavior in the body upon implantation (degradation, biofilm formation) and physiological reactions induced by the parent material and degradation byproducts (immune responses, local or systemic infections).

#### **1.2.1** Classification of present scaffold-free systems

Several scaffold-free systems have been reported, some of which are already used for clinical treatments. These systems can be divided into three categories according to the cellular material used for construction. One system uses single cell sheets, another uses isolated single cells, and the third uses spheroid cell aggregates as the essential building blocks for implantable 3D constructs (Figure 1.1).

#### 1.2.1.1 Cell sheets

Cell sheet technology is one of the most advanced methods for the construction of implantable engineered tissue. Certain types of cells can be removed from a culture dish as a relatively stable confluent monolayer-sheet [45]. Cell sheet technology is already used clinically for the repair of skin [2], cornea [46], esophagus [47], heart muscle [48], and blood vessels [49], and it is a promising method for many other applications in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

The first successful clinical application of cell sheets was developed by Rheinwald and Green [45] to treat patients with severe burns. At that time, keratinocytes were difficult to culture for expansion. Rheinwald et al. seeded a suspension of disaggregated keratinocytes onto a feeder layer of irradiated mouse 3T3 cells. The feeder layer enhanced plating efficiency and stimulated keratinocyte proliferation. Proliferation and culture life span could be further increased by adding various supplements or growth factors to the culture medium. They were able to recover single continuous sheets of keratinocytes that could be grafted onto the sites of severe burns. Many patients with severe burns have survived due to this skin sheet technology [7]. Since then, grafting of these keratinocyte monolayers is perhaps the most successful example of tissue engineering therapy, and several products have been examined in clinical trials. A number of them have been approved by the FDA and are now on the market [50].

In January 2009, Japan Tissue Engineering Co., Ltd., a Japanese biotechnology company, began marketing autologous cultured epidermis (called JACE) as the first Japanese tissue engineering product covered by national health insurance. JACE uses Green's [45] cell sheet engineering system, and it is the only regenerative medicine product currently approved by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare [51]. This approval is significant because the Japanese MHLW was considered to be the utmost conservative authority for the approval

7



#### FIGURE 1.1

Methods for scaffold-free biofabrication. (a) Isolated single cell suspension. (b) Culture isolated cells in bioreactor or in static culture mold. (c) Cell sheet formation.(d) Multicellular cellular spheroid formation. (e) Layering cell sheets. (f) Rolling or folding cell sheets. (g) Computer-based bio-printing/biofabrication system.

of new drugs and medical devices and thus may indicate more timely approval and acceptance of similar products in Japan and elsewhere.

Okano et al. developed an alternative method for cell sheet engineering by first coating culture dishes with a temperature-responsive polymer, poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) [52]. This surface is relatively hydrophobic and similar to standard culture dishes at 37°C, but it becomes hydrophilic below 32°C. Various cell types can attach to the surface and proliferate at 37°C, while cooling below 32°C causes the cells to detach without the use of enzyme digestion reagent [53]. This is in contrast to Green's [45] cell sheet method, which always requires dispase for recovery of cell sheets from culture dishes. The method of Okano allows the production of many types of cell sheets that are too fragile or otherwise difficult to recover by other methods [53-55]. Furthermore, Okano's method does not require an earlier used exogenous feeder layer, thus representing a potentially safer method. (Earlier employed feeder layers containing mouse 3T3 cells produce mouse proteins that may induce allergic reactions.)

#### 1.2.1.1.1 Corneal sheets

The clinically most advanced application of the system developed by Okano is corneal regeneration using cultivated human corneal sheet transplantation [46]. Kinoshita et al. also showed good clinical results with cultivated human corneal sheet transplantation [56]. However, their system is not scaffold-free by our definition because it used allogeneic amniotic human membrane as an autologous cell carrier. Nishida et al. harvested corneal epithelial stem cells from the limbus of patients with severe ocular trauma, such as alkali burns, or ocular diseases, including autoimmune disorders or Stevens-Johnson syndrome (erythema multiforme). After monolayer expansion in vitro, the corneal epithelial stem cells were formed into cell sheets using Okano's thermal responsive culture plates. Harvesting and transplantation of noninvasive cell sheets using this temperature-responsive culture system has also been applied for ocular surface regeneration.

#### 1.2.1.1.2 Heart regeneration

Using Okano's method, Sawa et al. implanted a cultured skeletal muscle cell sheet into the damaged heart of a patient with degenerative cardiomyopathy, a disease characterized by progressive heart failure [48]. The patient was at end-stage heart failure and on life support using a mechanical left ventricle assisting system. The implanted cells were isolated from an approximately 10-g piece of skeletal muscle excised from the medial vastus muscle under general anesthesia. After monolayer expansion, 20 skeletal myoblast cell sheets were obtained and autologously implanted onto the patient's dilated heart through left lateral thoracotomy. Seven months after implantation, the patient was discharged from the hospital and no longer required artificial heart support.

#### 1.2.1.1.3 Esophageal ulcer treatment

With the rapid progress of endoscopy, large esophageal cancers can be removed by a single procedure, such as endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD). Endoscopic resection has become the standard treatment for esophageal lesions, replacing longer open surgery procedures. However, massive resection of esophageal cancer by ESD can be complicated by postoperative inflammation and stenosis (narrowing of the esophagus). Severe inflammation causes esophageal scarring, while stenosis may make swallowing difficult and painful. Although treatment with balloon dilation or temporary stents can enlarge the narrowed esophagus and partially and temporarily overcome this problem, an extended response generally requires repeated treatment that can lead to further inflammation and postoperative pain.

Postoperative inflammation and stenosis are caused mainly by massive ulceration of the esophageal surface. Following a successful preclinical trial in dogs, Ohki et al. performed clinical trials using cell sheets to treat large esophageal ulcers [57]. To this end, they developed a device that can directly transfer and attach cell sheets through endoscopy without suturing. The application of these epithelial cell layers enhanced wound healing and reduced host inflammatory responses without causing stenosis.

#### 1.2.1.1.4 Blood vessels

Good clinical results were obtained when cell sheet—based scaffold-free blood vessels were used for the facilitation of hemodialysis (HD) treatment [12,58]. These vessels were fabricated by wrapping a dehydrated fibroblast sheet around a polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) tube cylinder and then overlaying a living smooth muscle cell sheet and an outer fibroblast sheet. After culturing this multi-layered "cell roll," the PTFE cylinder was removed and the lumenal surface was seeded with endothelial cells. A small clinical trial was conducted using this scaffold-free tube in ten patients with end-stage renal failure treated by HD through an arteriovenous fistula (shunt). Patients who require HD always face shunt complications such as infection and low blood flow due to clotting. L'Heureux et al. fabricated tissue engineered blood vessels with autologous cells from each patient and implanted the vessel as a replacement HD shunt. The implanted grafts were stable in vivo for 3 months and withstood repeated puncture for HD for up to 13 months, allowing uninterrupted HD [59].

#### 1.2.1.1.5 Nerve grafts

Baltich et al. fabricated scaffold-free tubular constructs consisting of an external fibroblast layer and an internal core of interconnected neuronal cells derived from fetal rat spine. The conduction velocity of this engineered "nerve" was comparable to that of the sciatic nerve of a 4-week-old rat and approximately 50 percent of that observed in a 12-week-old (adult) rat [60]. These results suggest that the scaffold-free nerve grafts may be useful for peripheral nerve repair.

#### 1.2.1.1.6 Liver regeneration

Fabrication of liver tissue in vitro has attracted considerable interest given the innate regenerative capacity of the liver and prevalence of liver diseases. Ohashi et al. [10] fabricated hepatocyte cell sheets by culturing hepatocytes on temperature-responsive poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide)-coated culture dishes. Sheets of hepatic tissue transplanted ectopically into the subcutaneous space were pretreated with growth factor FGF-2 to promote neovascularization. These sheets efficiently integrated with the surrounding tissue and persisted for longer than 200 days. The engineered and implanted hepatic tissues also showed several characteristics of liver-specific functionality. Furthermore, layered hepatic tissue

sheets reorganized into a 3D structure with the histological appearance of liver tissue [10].

#### 1.2.1.1.7 Implantation of pancreatic islets

The observed functional differentiation of ectopically implanted hepatocytes led Ohashi and Okano to perform a similar experiment using cell sheets composed of rat pancreatic islet cells [61]. In vitro, these pancreatic islet cell sheets retained the functional activity of native islet cells, including the production of insulin and glucagon, and glucose-dependent insulin secretion. Moreover, when transplanted into the subcutaneous space of rats, pancreatic islet cell sheets produced and secreted insulin, suggesting a new therapeutic approach for the treatment of diabetes mellitus and other diseases involving dysfunctional islet cells and possible elimination of the need for daily insulin injections [62,63].

The Okano group is now aggressively expanding potential applications by developing sheets for regeneration of bone [64], articular cartilage surface [65], periodontal ligament [66], lung [67], thyroid [68], and bladder [69].

#### 1.2.1.1.8 Expansion of cell sheets into 3D structures

Various approaches have been used to fabricate larger 3D tissues and organs from cell sheets. One example is the "Origami" approach, where, like L'Heureux et al. [12], sheets are formed around a temporary 3D scaffold (like surgical tubing). Another standard approach is the layering of multiple cell sheets. Shimizu et al. layered beating cardiomyocyte sheets to fabricate scaffold-free 3D constructs and found that these layered cardiomyocytes exhibited synchronized beating. However, the maximum thickness was limited to less than  $80 \,\mu\text{m}$  (three-cell layer), possibly due to starvation and hypoxia of inner layers that have poor access to the culture media and atmosphere. Moreover, cardiomyocytes are tightly interconnected by gap junctions, and the outer layer may prevent gas and nutrient exchange to the inner layers. Indeed, four-layered cardiomyocyte constructs showed necrosis in the inner layers [70]. To overcome this limited maximum thickness, they implanted 10 three-layered cardiomyocyte sheets into nude rat hearts at 1- or 2-day intervals, finally obtaining a 1-mm-thick neomyocardium fused onto the native heart and integrated with a well-organized microvascular network. Although it is obviously impossible to perform multiple thoracotomies on human patients, this demonstration revealed the importance of neovascularization for the gradual construction of larger cell constructs with or without the use of scaffolds [71,72].

#### **1.2.2** In vitro self-produced ECM-rich scaffold-free constructs

Certain cell types possess the capacity to synthesize and release components of ECM in vitro under appropriate culture conditions. Fibroblasts and chondrocytes, for example, produce collagens and proteoglycans in vitro. This ECM production capacity is accelerated under confluence or 3D culture conditions, a phenomenon

that may be inspired to develop scaffold-free systems for fabrication of 3D constructs from isolated chondrocytes [73,74]. Normal anchorage-dependent cells proliferate at low density in monolayer culture. When the cell density reaches a certain threshold, proliferation is suppressed by contact inhibition. Under contact inhibition, the cell cycle stops and chondrocytes start to produce ECM proteins. Using this in vitro-produced ECM, many groups have developed methods to fabricate 3D scaffold-free constructs in vitro. Most of these approaches are used for fabrication of cartilage-like constructs [75,76]. In this technique, a large number of isolated chondrocytes is loaded into a specific culture mold and fed reagents that enhance matrix production. Since chondrocytes exist under relatively low oxygen partial pressure and without blood supply in vivo (in joints), they are relatively harder than normal cells and can be cultured under high-density static culture conditions. Although these approaches require relatively longer culture, the resulting constructs are similar to native cartilage in terms of histology and biomechanical properties [77-79]. However, these "in vitro self-produced ECMrich scaffold-free" constructs have limitations as well. It is difficult to expand cultures in 3D without hypoxia or nutrient starvation of inner core cells. Thus, most of these scaffold-free cartilage-like constructs are thinner than normal human articular cartilage in adults.

#### 1.2.3 The rotating wall vessel bioreactor system

Another approach for fabricating scaffold-free constructs from isolated cells is by using a rotating wall vessel bioreactor system. This culture system utilizes a circular vessel with a gas-exchange membrane and rotates around a horizontal axis to provide culture media flow in a simulated microgravity environment. The rotating wall reactor (RWR) was developed by NASA to produce cartilage-like tissue in space [80]. This reactor has also been used on earth to fabricate various other cell constructs [81–83]. Okamura et al. loaded isolated hepatocytes into an RWR and obtained a "liver-like" construct with bile duct— and vessel-like structures formed within the tissue. Histological analysis showed that the bile duct structures secreted mucin and formed complex tubular branches in the peripheral region. Distal to these bile duct structures, they observed mature hepatocytes capable of producing albumin and storing glycogen [84]. To our knowledge, there are still no clinical reports using engineered tissue fabricated by this method.

# 1.3 Aggregation/spheroid-based approaches

The capacity of dissociated cells to reaggregate through cell–cell attachment has been known for over 100 years [85]. This phenomenon is preserved in almost all living organisms irrespective of their complexity [86,87]. These aggregates are usually called multicellular spheroids (MCSs) and are powerful research tools in

modern developmental biology, stem cell biology, tumor biology, toxicology, and pharmacology.

## 1.3.1 Preparation of multicellular spheroids

Although several methods for MCS preparation have been introduced, they all rely on a simple common principle: dissociated cells are incubated in a nonadhesive environment to allow individual cells to attach to one another. This cell—cell attachment is a survival mechanism that allows cells to avoid anoikis, possibly by activating signals mediated by surface receptors and ligands that suppress the anoikis cascade.

These MCSs can be prepared in regular nonadhesive culture dishes, siliconcoated dishes [88], containers coated with nonadhesive enhanced polymers (such as PDMS [89]) or poly-HEMA [90], agarose gels [91], alginate beads [92], spinner flasks [78], or hanging drop cultures [93]. After reaggregation of dissociated cells, each MCS has the capacity to fuse with other MCSs. Many groups have developed alternative approaches for scaffold-free tissue engineering using this propensity for MCS fusion. In fact, methods using spheroids as building blocks for fabrication of scaffold-free cell constructs may be a better approach because many cells in spheroids show greater similarity to cells in the native state than do cells in monolayer culture [94].

MCS fusion usually requires 24 to 72 hours, depending on the cell type and culture conditions. During fusion, these MCSs must be kept in culture media under controlled conditions because even a slight tilting of the culture dish may deform the desired shape of the stacked MCS blocks.

#### 1.3.2 Molding MCSs

Most of these MCS-based approaches also use specific molding chambers to produce constructs of the desired shapes [91,95,96]. However, it remains difficult to fabricate larger tissues similar to the geometry of native tissues or organs due to limited gas and nutrient exchange within the core of the spheroids, particularly for hepatocytes, cardiomyocytes, and other cells with high nutritional or metabolic demands.

#### 1.3.3 Bio-printing

Possibly inspired by common inkjet printers, cell printing systems, called bioprinting systems, have been developed [71,97]. Mironov, Forgacs, and colleagues first established a spheroid-based bio-printing system [98,99] that used MCSs as "bio-ink" and hydrogels as "bio-paper." Their printer lays down MCSs onto predesigned spots on the hydrogel to allow adjacent MCSs to fuse until the desired shape is attained. Using this system, they fabricated a beating cardiomyocyte plate. Their latest system can print multicellular rods onto agarose (bio-paper) using a dual-nozzle system for real-time molding of vascular and peripheral nerve constructs [100]. This bio-printing approach can fabricate more complex three-dimensional designs with microchannels that may allow for better in vitro perfusion and provide conduits for neovasculization in vivo.

# **1.3.4** Alternative approach for MCS assembly technique for biofabrication

We developed another approach for a scaffold-free MCS assembling system called a "needle-array" system (Figure 1.2) that is slightly different from bioprinting systems. Instead of using hydrogel as the "bio-paper," we used medicalgrade stainless needles as temporal fixators to skewer MCSs until they fused with one another. This concept was inspired from surgical treatments for bone fracture in orthopedic surgery, called "external fixation" (Figure 1.3). For treatment of bone fracture, orthopedic surgeons reposition fractured bone pieces to their original positions with or without surgery. After repositioning, surgeons immobilize bone pieces by using casts or splints without surgery or by using metal plates, screws, or pins under surgical procedure. Inspired from fracture treatment, especially by the external fixation technique, we developed the needle-array





The needle-array system. (Left) Skewering a spheroid into the needle-array with a robotic system. (Right) Removing fused spheroids to obtain a scaffold-free construct.



#### FIGURE 1.3

External fixation for bone fracture treatment. Pins are inserted through the skin into the bone.

system. We also developed a robotic system that skewers MCSs into needle-array according to a three-dimensional design template (Figure 1.4).

By applying these systems, we can fabricate complex three-dimensional scaffold-free cell constructs by using various types of cells such as chondrocyte, hepatocyte, cardiomyocyte, vascular smooth muscle cell, and so on. Since we utilize medical grade needles, it is easy to remove the temporary supports without contamination with exogenous materials. In addition, efficient gas and nutrition exchange could be expected, unlike in other scaffold-free MCS-based systems.

# CONCLUSION

In this section, we reviewed the pros and cons of tissue engineering using scaffolds for regeneration of damaged tissue and discussed current developments in scaffold-free systems, some of which have already found clinical applications. We possess a large array of tissue engineering/regenerative medicine systems that must now be refined for clinical applications. Some of these systems show remarkable results in vitro but are challenging to translate into bedside.



#### FIGURE 1.4

Needle-array-based scaffold-free biofabrication system. (Left) DNA-like double helix design template. (Middle) 3D biofabrication system in a bio-clean bench. (Right) Scaffold-free endothelial cell—based construct based on the design template in the left pane. Scale bar = 1 mm.

The industrial giant Dow Corning, the largest supplier of silicone breast implants, filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy in 1995 in the face of over 20,000 lawsuits claiming that its implants caused systemic health problems, despite the fact that there was no direct evidence linking the implants to these health problems [101]. The lesson from this case is that despite promising results in vitro and in preclinical models (that are usually only monitored for a few months or years), the safety of scaffolds and implants must be confirmed in humans over the long term. Scaffold-free systems are an alternative for tissue engineering and repair of damaged tissues that may circumvent at least some of these potential risks.

Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine are under constant development, so it is too early to determine which is better: scaffold or scaffold-free engineered tissues. Whichever approach is used, to fabricate human-scale tissues or organs in vitro, new methods must allow for neovascularization to overcome the diffusion limits of oxygen and nutrients within tissues [71,72]. Endothelial cells have the capacity to form tubes and networks in vitro under appropriate culture conditions [102], so there is hope that the problems of neovascularization can be solved without the need for fabricating complex vascular networks in vitro.

In light of the latest developments on decellularized organs [103,104], it can be surmised that it will soon be possible to fabricate whole tissues and organs in vitro using the appropriate combination of cells, culture conditions, and bioreactors without the use of artificial scaffolds. To achieve the translation of these emerging tissue engineering technologies from benchside to bedside, with or without a scaffold, the safety, efficacy, and cost-effectiveness of the approach will have to be evaluated at each phase of clinical development.

# References

- Cao Y, Vacanti JP, Paige KT, Upton J, Vacanti CA. Transplantation of chondrocytes utilizing a polymer-cell construct to produce tissue-engineered cartilage in the shape of a human ear. Plast Reconstr Surg 1997;100(2):297–302.
- [2] O'Connor N, Mulliken J, Banks-Schlegel S, Kehinde O, Green H. Grafting of burns with cultured epithelium prepared from autologous epidermal cells. Lancet 1981;317 (8211):75-8.
- [3] Wakitani S, Kimura T, Hirooka A, Ochi T, Yoneda M, Yasui N, et al. Repair of rabbit articular surfaces with allograft chondrocytes embedded in collagen gel. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1989;71(1):74–80.
- [4] Shin'oka T, Imai Y, Ikada Y. Transplantation of a tissue-engineered pulmonary artery. N Engl J Med 2001;344(7):532–3.
- [5] Oreffo RO, Driessens FC, Planell JA, Triffitt JT. Growth and differentiation of human bone marrow osteoprogenitors on novel calcium phosphate cements. Biomaterials 1998;19(20):1845–54.
- [6] Fussenegger M, Meinhart J, Höbling W, Kullich W, Funk S, Bernatzky G. Stabilized autologous fibrin-chondrocyte constructs for cartilage repair in vivo. Ann Plast Surg 2003;51(5):493–8.
- [7] Gallico GG, O'Connor NE, Compton CC, Kehinde O, Green H. Permanent coverage of large burn wounds with autologous cultured human epithelium. N Engl J Med 1984;311(7):448–51.
- [8] Kropp BP, Cheng EY. Bioengineering organs using small intestinal submucosa scaffolds: in vivo tissue-engineering technology. J Endourol 2000;14(1):59–62.
- [9] Brittberg M, Nilsson A, Lindahl A, Ohlsson C, Peterson L. Rabbit articular cartilage defects treated with autologous cultured chondrocytes. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1996;326:270–83.
- [10] Ohashi K, Yokoyama T, Yamato M, Kuge H, Kanehiro H, Tsutsumi M, et al. Engineering functional two-and three-dimensional liver systems in vivo using hepatic tissue sheets. Nat Med 2007;13(7):880-5.
- [11] Niemeyer P, Krause U, Fellenberg J, Kasten P, Seckinger A, Ho AD, et al. Evaluation of mineralized collagen and alpha-tricalcium phosphate as scaffolds for tissue engineering of bone using human mesenchymal stem cells. Cells Tissues Organs 2004;177(2):68-78.
- [12] L'Heureux N, Pâquet S, Labbé R, Germain L, Auger FA. A completely biological tissue-engineered human blood vessel. FASEB J 1998;12(1):47–56.
- [13] Isogai N, Landis W, Kim TH, Gerstenfeld LC, Upton J, Vacanti JP. Formation of phalanges and small joints by tissue-engineering. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1999;81 (3):306-16.
- [14] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260(5110):920-6.
- [15] The declaration of Istanbul on organ trafficking and transplant tourism. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3(5):1227–31.
- [16] Pollard JD, Hanasono MM, Mikulec AA, Le QT, Terris DJ. Head and neck cancer in cardiothoracic transplant recipients. Laryngoscope 2000;110(8):1257–61.
- [17] Zhang M, Methot D, Poppa V, Fujio Y, Walsh K, Murry CE. Cardiomyocyte grafting for cardiac repair: graft cell death and anti-death strategies. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2001;33(5):907–21.

- [18] Hofmann M, Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Menke A, Arseniev L, Hertenstein B, et al. Monitoring of bone marrow cell homing into the infarcted human myocardium. Circulation 2005;111(17):2198–202.
- [19] Frisch SM, Ruoslahti E. Integrins and anoikis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997;9(5):701-6.
- [20] Gilmore AP. Anoikis. Cell Death Differ 2005;12(Suppl 2):1473-7.
- [21] Atala A. Experimental and clinical experience with tissue engineering techniques for urethral reconstruction. Urol Clin North Am 2002;29(2):485–92, ix.
- [22] Behrens P, Bitter T, Kurz B, Russlies M. Matrix-associated autologous chondrocyte transplantation/implantation (MACT/MACI)–5-year follow-up. Knee 2006;13(3): 194–202.
- [23] Galassi G, Brun P, Radice M, Cortivo R, Zanon GF, Genovese P, et al. In vitro reconstructed dermis implanted in human wounds: degradation studies of the HAbased supporting scaffold. Biomaterials 2000;21(21):2183–91.
- [24] Hibino N, Imai Y, Shin-oka T, Aoki M, Watanabe M, Kosaka Y, et al. First successful clinical application of tissue engineered blood vessel Kyobu geka. Jpn J Thorac Surg 2002;55(5):368–73.
- [25] Schakenraad JM, Dijkstra PJ. Biocompatibility of poly (DL-lactic acid/glycine) copolymers. Clin Mater 1991;7(3):253–69.
- [26] Billingham ME. Models of arthritis and the search for anti-arthritic drugs. Pharmacol Ther 1983;21(3):389–428.
- [27] Wooley PH. Animal models of rheumatoid arthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 1991;3 (3):407–20.
- [28] Matsuo A, Shuto T, Hirata G, Satoh H, Matsumoto Y, Zhao H, et al. Antiinflammatory and chondroprotective effects of the aminobisphosphonate incadronate (YM175) in adjuvant induced arthritis. J Rheumatol 2003;30(6):1280–90.
- [29] Huo MH, Romness DW, Huo SM. Metallosis mimicking infection in a cemented total knee replacement. Orthopedics 1997;20(5):466–70.
- [30] Patrascu JM, Freymann U, Kaps C, Poenaru DV. Repair of a post-traumatic cartilage defect with a cell-free polymer-based cartilage implant: a follow-up at two years by MRI and histological review. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2010;92(8):1160–3.
- [31] Khardori N, Yassien M. Biofilms in device-related infections. J Ind Microbiol 1995;15(3):141-7.
- [32] Van de Belt H, Neut D, Schenk W, Van Horn JR, Van der Mei HC, Busscher HJ. Infection of orthopedic implants and the use of antibiotic-loaded bone cements. A review. Acta Orthop Scand 2001;72(6):557–71.
- [33] Rimondini L, Fini M, Giardino R. The microbial infection of biomaterials: a challenge for clinicians and researchers. A short review. J Appl Biomater Biomech 2005;3(1):1–10.
- [34] Costerton JW, Stewart PS, Greenberg EP. Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. Science 1999;284(5418):1318–22.
- [35] Gristina AG, Giridhar G, Gabriel BL, Naylor PT, Myrvik QN. Cell biology and molecular mechanisms in artificial device infections. Int J Artif Organs 1993;16(11):755–63.
- [36] Fukagawa S, Matsuda S, Miura H, Okazaki K, Tashiro Y, Iwamoto Y. High-dose antibiotic infusion for infected knee prosthesis without implant removal. J Orthop Sci 2010;15(4):470-6.
- [37] Garvin KL, Konigsberg BS. Infection following total knee arthroplasty: prevention and management. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2011;93(12):1167–75.

- [38] Holden BA, Sweeney DF, Sankaridurg PR, Carnt N, Edwards K, Stretton S, et al. Microbial keratitis and vision loss with contact lenses. Eye Contact Lens 2003;29 (1 Suppl):[S131-4; discussion S143-4, S192-4].
- [39] Stapleton F, Keay L, Edwards K, Naduvilath T, Dart JKG, Brian G, et al. The incidence of contact lens-related microbial keratitis in Australia. Ophthalmology 2008;115(10):1655–62.
- [40] Virden CP, Dobke MK, Stein P, Parsons CL, Frank DH. Subclinical infection of the silicone breast implant surface as a possible cause of capsular contracture. Aesthetic Plast Surg 1992;16(2):173–9.
- [41] Pittet B, Montandon D, Pittet D. Infection in breast implants. Lancet Infect Dis 2005;5(2):94–106.
- [42] Shinto Y, Uchida A, Korkusuz F, Araki N, Ono K. Calcium hydroxyapatite ceramic used as a delivery system for antibiotics. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1992;74(4):600–4.
- [43] Fu J, Ji J, Yuan W, Shen J. Construction of anti-adhesive and antibacterial multilayer films via layer-by-layer assembly of heparin and chitosan. Biomaterials 2005;26 (33):6684–92.
- [44] Guillemot F, Mironov V, Nakamura M. Bioprinting is coming of age: report from the international conference on bioprinting and biofabrication in bordeaux (3B'09). Biofabrication 2010;2(1):010201.
- [45] Rheinwald JG, Green H. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. Cell 1975;6(3):331–43.
- [46] Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, Adachi E, et al. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N Engl J Med 2004;351(12):1187–96.
- [47] Ohki T, Yamato M, Ota M, Murakami D, Takagi R, Kondo M, et al. Endoscopic transplantation of human oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets-world's first case of regenerative medicine applied to endoscopic treatment. Gastrointest Endosc 2009;69 (5):AB253-4.
- [48] Sawa Y, Miyagawa S, Sakaguchi T, Fujita T, Matsuyama A, Saito A, et al. Tissue engineered myoblast sheets improved cardiac function sufficiently to discontinue LVAS in a patient with DCM: report of a case. Surg Today 2012;42(2):181–4.
- [49] L'Heureux N, McAllister TN, De la Fuente LM. Tissue-engineered blood vessel for adult arterial revascularization. N Engl J Med 2007;357(14):1451–3.
- [50] Phillips TJ. New skin for old: developments in biological skin substitutes. Arch Dermatol 1998;134(3):344–9.
- [51] Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare (J-TEC) (2009): J-TEC Top message. Retrieved am from <a href="http://www.jpte.co.jp/english/ir/top\_message.html">http://www.jpte.co.jp/english/ir/top\_message.html</a>>.
- [52] Yamada N, Okano T, Sakai H, Karikusa F, Sawasaki Y, Sakurai Y. Thermoresponsive polymeric surfaces; control of attachment and detachment of cultured cells. Makromol Chem Rapid Comm 1990;11(11):571–6.
- [53] Shimizu T, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T. Two-dimensional manipulation of cardiac myocyte sheets utilizing temperature-responsive culture dishes augments the pulsatile amplitude. Tissue Eng 2001;7(2):141–51.
- [54] Nakajima K, Honda S, Nakamura Y, López-Redondo F, Kohsaka S, Yamato M, et al. Intact microglia are cultured and non-invasively harvested without pathological activation using a novel cultured cell recovery method. Biomaterials 2001;22 (11):1213–23.

- [55] Okano T, Yamada N, Sakai H, Sakurai Y. A novel recovery system for cultured cells using plasma-treated polystyrene dishes grafted with poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide). J Biomed Mater Res 1993;27(10):1243–51.
- [56] Ishino Y, Sano Y, Nakamura T, Connon CJ, Rigby H, Fullwood NJ, et al. Amniotic membrane as a carrier for cultivated human corneal endothelial cell transplantation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004;45(3):800–6.
- [57] Ohki T, Yamato M, Murakami D, Takagi R, Yang J, Namiki H, et al. Treatment of oesophageal ulcerations using endoscopic transplantation of tissue-engineered autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets in a canine model. Gut 2006;55 (12):1704–10.
- [58] L'Heureux N, Dusserre N, Konig G, Victor B, Keire P, Wight TN, et al. Human tissue-engineered blood vessels for adult arterial revascularization. Nat Med 2006;12 (3):361–5.
- [59] McAllister TN, Maruszewski M, Garrido SA, Wystrychowski W, Dusserre N, Marini A, et al. Effectiveness of haemodialysis access with an autologous tissue-engineered vascular graft: a multicentre cohort study. Lancet 2009;373(9673):1440–6.
- [60] Baltich J, Hatch-Vallier L, Adams AM, Arruda EM, Larkin LM. Development of a scaffoldless three-dimensional engineered nerve using a nerve-fibroblast co-culture. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 2010;46(5):438–44.
- [61] Shimizu H, Ohashi K, Utoh R, Ise K, Gotoh M, Yamato M, et al. Bioengineering of a functional sheet of islet cells for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Biomaterials 2009;30(30):5943–9.
- [62] Ohashi K, Mukobata S, Utoh R, Yamashita S, Masuda T, Sakai H, et al. Production of islet cell sheets using cryopreserved islet cells. Transplant Proc 2011;43 (9):3188–91.
- [63] Saito T, Ohashi K, Utoh R, Shimizu H, Ise K, Suzuki H, et al. Reversal of diabetes by the creation of neo-islet tissues into a subcutaneous site using islet cell sheets. Transplantation 2011;92(11):1231–6.
- [64] Uchiyama H, Yamato M, Sasaki R, Sekine H, Yang J, Ogiuchi H, et al. In vivo 3D analysis with micro-computed tomography of rat calvaria bone regeneration using periosteal cell sheets fabricated on temperature-responsive culture dishes. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2011;5(6):483–90.
- [65] Kaneshiro N, Sato M, Ishihara M, Mitani G, Sakai H, Mochida J. Bioengineered chondrocyte sheets may be potentially useful for the treatment of partial thickness defects of articular cartilage. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;349(2):723–31.
- [66] Tsumanuma Y, Iwata T, Washio K, Yoshida T, Yamada A, Takagi R, et al. Comparison of different tissue-derived stem cell sheets for periodontal regeneration in a canine 1-wall defect model. Biomaterials 2011;32(25):5819–25.
- [67] Kanzaki M, Yamato M, Yang J, Sekine H, Kohno C, Takagi R, et al. Dynamic sealing of lung air leaks by the transplantation of tissue engineered cell sheets. Biomaterials 2007;28(29):4294–302.
- [68] Arauchi A, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Obara T, Okano T. Tissue-engineered thyroid cell sheet rescued hypothyroidism in rat models after receiving total thyroidectomy comparing with nontransplantation models. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15(12):3943–9.
- [69] Watanabe E, Yamato M, Shiroyanagi Y, Tanabe K, Okano T. Bladder augmentation using tissue-engineered autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets grafted on demucosalized gastric flaps. Transplantation 2011;91(7):700–6.

- [70] Shimizu T. Fabrication of pulsatile cardiac tissue grafts using a novel 3-Dimensional cell sheet manipulation technique and temperature-responsive cell culture surfaces. Circ Res 2002;90(3):40e-8e.
- [71] Mironov V, Boland T, Trusk T, Forgacs G, Markwald RR. Organ printing: computer-aided jet-based 3D tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2003;21(4):157–61.
- [72] Sekiya S, Shimizu T, Yamato M, Okano T. "Deep-media culture condition" promoted lumen formation of endothelial cells within engineered three-dimensional tissues in vitro. J Artif Organs 2011;14(1):43–51.
- [73] Park K, Huang J, Azar F, Jin RL, Min B-H, Han DK, et al. Scaffold-free, engineered porcine cartilage construct for cartilage defect repair—in vitro and in vivo study. Artif Organs 2006;30(8):586–96.
- [74] Jin RL, Park SR, Choi BH, Min B-H. Scaffold-free cartilage fabrication system using passaged porcine chondrocytes and basic fibroblast growth factor. Tissue Eng Part A 2009;15(8):1887–95.
- [75] Grogan S. A static, closed and scaffold-free bioreactor system that permits chondrogenesis in vitro. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2003;11(6):403–11.
- [76] Ando W, Tateishi K, Hart DA, Katakai D, Tanaka Y, Nakata K, et al. Cartilage repair using an in vitro generated scaffold-free tissue-engineered construct derived from porcine synovial mesenchymal stem cells. Biomaterials 2007;28(36):5462–70.
- [77] Mainil-Varlet P, Rieser F, Grogan S, Mueller W, Saager C, Jakob RP. Articular cartilage repair using a tissue-engineered cartilage-like implant: an animal study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2001;9:S6–15.
- [78] Nagai T, Furukawa KS, Sato M, Ushida T, Mochida J. Characteristics of a scaffoldfree articular chondrocyte plate grown in rotational culture. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14(7):1183–93.
- [79] Miyazaki T, Miyauchi S, Matsuzaka S. Formation of proteoglycan and collagen-rich scaffold-free stiff cartilaginous tissue using two-step culture methods with combinations of growth factors. Tissue 2010;16(5).
- [80] Freed LE, Langer R, Martin I, Pellis NR, Vunjak-Novakovic G. Tissue engineering of cartilage in space. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94(25):13885–90.
- [81] Barrila J, Radtke AL, Crabbé A, Sarker SF, Herbst-Kralovetz MM, Ott CM, et al. Organotypic 3D cell culture models: using the rotating wall vessel to study host-pathogen interactions. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010;8(11):791–801.
- [82] Botta GP, Manley P, Miller S, Lelkes PI. Real-time assessment of three-dimensional cell aggregation in rotating wall vessel bioreactors in vitro. Nat Protoc 2006;1(4):2116–27.
- [83] Sakai S, Mishima H, Ishii T, Akaogi H, Yoshioka T, Ohyabu Y, et al. Rotating three-dimensional dynamic culture of adult human bone marrow-derived cells for tissue engineering of hyaline cartilage. J Orthop Res 2009;27(4):517–21.
- [84] Okamura A, Zheng Y-W, Hirochika R, Tanaka J, Taniguchi H. In-vitro reconstitution of hepatic tissue architectures with neonatal mouse liver cells using three-dimensional culture. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 2007;7(3):721–5.
- [85] Wilson H. On some phenomena of coalescence and regeneration in sponges. J Exp Zool 1907;5(2):245–58.
- [86] Townes PL, Holtfreter J. Directed movements and selective adhesion of embryonic amphibian cells. J Exp Zool 1955;128(1):53–120.
- [87] Steinberg MS. Mechanism of tissue reconstruction by dissociated cells, II: timecourse of events inine scene- Utilization of Nitrogen Compounds by Unicellular Algae 1954;137(X 127).

- [88] Sakai Y, Naruse K, Nagashima I, Muto T, Suzuki M. Large-scale preparation and function of porcine hepatocyte spheroids. Int J Artif Organs 1996;19(5):294–301.
- [89] Nishikawa M, Yamamoto T, Kojima N, Kikuo K, Fujii T, Sakai Y. Stable immobilization of rat hepatocytes as hemispheroids onto collagen-conjugated polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) surfaces: importance of direct oxygenation through PDMS for both formation and function. Biotechnol Bioeng 2008;99(6):1472–81.
- [90] Seidel JM, Malmonge SM. Synthesis of polyHEMA hydrogels for using as biomaterials. Bulk and solution radical-initiated polymerization techniques. Mater Res 2000;3(3):79–83.
- [91] Dean DM, Napolitano AP, Youssef J, Morgan JR. Rods, tori, and honeycombs: the directed self-assembly of microtissues with prescribed microscale geometries. FASEB J 2007;21(14):4005–12.
- [92] Masuda K, Sah RL, Hejna MJ, Thonar EJ-MA. A novel two-step method for the formation of tissue-engineered cartilage by mature bovine chondrocytes: the alginate-recovered-chondrocyte (ARC) method. J Orthop Res 2003;21(1):139–48.
- [93] Kelm JM, Timmins NE, Brown CJ, Fussenegger M, Nielsen LK. Method for generation of homogeneous multicellular tumor spheroids applicable to a wide variety of cell types. Biotechnol Bioeng 2003;83(2):173–80.
- [94] Chang TT, Hughes-fulford M. Monolayer and spheroid culture of human liver hepatocellular carcinoma cell line cells demonstrate and functional phenotypes. Dev Cell 2009;15(3).
- [95] Kelm JM, Djonov V, Ittner LM, Fluri D, Born W, Hoerstrup SP, et al. Design of custom-shaped vascularized tissues using microtissue spheroids as minimal building units. Tissue Eng 2006;12(8):2151–60.
- [96] Rago AP, Dean DM, Morgan JR. Controlling cell position in complex heterotypic 3D microtissues by tissue fusion. Biotechnol Bioeng 2009;102(4):1231-41.
- [97] Boland T, Mironov V, Gutowska A, Roth EA, Markwald RR. Cell and organ printing 2: fusion of cell aggregates in three-dimensional gels. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 2003;272(2):497–502.
- [98] Jakab K, Neagu A, Mironov V, Forgacs G. Organ printing: fiction or science. Biorheology 2004;41(3-4):371-5.
- [99] Jakab K, Neagu A, Mironov V, Markwald RR, Forgacs G. Engineering biological structures of prescribed shape using self-assembling multicellular systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101(9):2864–9.
- [100] Norotte C, Marga FS, Niklason LE, Forgacs G. Scaffold-free vascular tissue engineering using bioprinting. Biomaterials 2009;30(30):5910–7.
- [101] Renwick SB. Silicone breast implants: implications for society and surgeons. Med J Aust 1996;165(6):338–41.
- [102] Arnaoutova I, George J, Kleinman HK, Benton G. The endothelial cell tube formation assay on basement membrane turns 20: state of the science and the art. Angiogenesis 2009;12(3):267–74.
- [103] Ott HC, Matthiesen TS, Goh S-K, Black LD, Kren SM, Netoff TI, et al. Perfusiondecellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med 2008;14(2):213–21.
- [104] Uygun BE, Soto-Gutierrez A, Yagi H, Izamis M-L, Guzzardi MA, Shulman C, et al. Organ reengineering through development of a transplantable recellularized liver graft using decellularized liver matrix. Nat Med 2010;16(7):814–20.